Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Court of Appeals Briefs

2000

Mahaoud Al-Bahadli v. LDS Family Services, Jill Lecheminant : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction pursuant to § 78-2a-3(2)(h) of the Utah Code.

STATEMENT OF ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

Whether Defendant Jill Lecheminant's admission that she misled Al-Bahadli regarding her intent to give up Al-Bahadli's child for adoption constituted an issue of material fact thus requiring that the Trial Court's Order granting Defendant LDS Family Services' Summary Judgment Motion be reversed. Standard of Review: Standard of Review: Questions of law and constitutionality are reviewed for correctness. Erickson v. Schenkers Int'l Forwarders, Inc., 882 P.2d 1147 (Utah 1994); Society of Separationists, Inc. v. Whitehead, 870 P.2d 916 (Utah 1993). This issue was preserved by filing the Notice of Appeal within 30 days of the Trial Court's Order being entered Legal Index (hereinafter "R") p. 116.

DETERMINITIVE LAW

United States Constitution, 14th Amendment UCA §78-30-4.13 UCA §78-30-4.14(5) UCA §78-30-4.15 Rule 56, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the Order of William B. Bohling, Third District Court Judge, which granted Defendant LDS Family Services' Motion for Summary Judgment. The issue in this case is whether the Utah Supreme Court's holding in <u>In Re Adoption of Baby Doe</u>, 717 P.2d 690 (Utah 1986) applies to the facts of this case. In <u>Baby Doe</u>, the Supreme Court held that when a biological father, through the misrepresentations of the natural mother, is denied a "reasonable"

opportunity" to comply with the statutory requirements for protecting his rights (UCA §78-30-4-13), the statute (UCA §78-30-4.14(5)) is unconstitutional as applied. Baby Doe, at 690, 691. In this case, Al-Bahadli has alleged, and Defendant Lecheminant (the birth mother) has admitted, that Al-Bahadli was misled by the birth mother, and therefore, he was denied a reasonable opportunity to comply with the requirements of UCA §78-30-4.13. Therefore, UCA §78-30-4.14(5) is unconstitutional as applied in his case. The Trial Court granted Defendant LDS Family Services' Motion for Summary Judgment, dismissing Al-Bahadli's Complaint for Paternity, Custody and Support. In addition, UCA §78-30-4.15(2) is unconstitutional on its face and should be stricken by the Court.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

- 1. Al-Bahadli is the father of Adam Lecheminant, born August 10th, 1999. R 4, ¶1.
- 2. Defendant LeCheminant is Adam's mother. R 2, ¶6.
- 3. Prior to Adam's birth, Plaintiff Al-Bahadli and LeCheminant agreed to marry. Adam's premature birth delayed the partie's plans to marry. R 87, ¶17.
- 4. After Adam was conceived, and up until Adam was placed for adoption with Defendant LDS Family Services, Defendant LeCheminant never consulted with Al-Bahadli about the possibility of giving Al-Bahadli's son away. R 86-88, ¶8, ¶10, ¶23, ¶24, ¶25.
- 5. Caroline Chudley, social worker for Defendant LDS Family Services told Defendant LeCheminant *not* to discuss adoption with Al-Bahadli. R 88, ¶23 and ¶27.
- 6. Caroline Chudley spoke with Al-Bahadli on October 18th, 1999, but never discussed adoption. R 51, ¶6.
- 7. During the pregnancy, LeCheminant attended several group meetings or classes regarding

- options for the baby, including adoption. R 39, ¶6. However, LeCheminant misrepresented to Al-Bahadli the purpose of the classes she was attending. She told Al-Bahadli it was a class for new mothers, not a class for mothers who intend to give up their children for adoption. R 86 ¶9.
- Al-Bahadli was present at the hospital during LeCheminant's labor and during Adam's birth.
 R 87, ¶11.
- 9. Al-Bahadli provided money, clothing, toys and gifts for Adam. R 87, ¶19.
- 10. Adam was born pre-mature, and was in the hospital from August 10th, 1999, until November 9th, 1999. R 4, ¶2.
- 11. Al-Bahadli visited his son every day while Adam was in the hospital. R 4, ¶3.
- 12. During Al-Bahadli's visits with Adam, Defendant LeCheminant was usually present; often her parents were present. R 4, ¶4.
- 13. During the hospital visits, subsequent to Adam's birth, Al-Bahadli and Lecheminant continued to plan for their wedding. R 4, ¶5.
- 14. Upon learning that Adam had been placed for adoption, Al-Bahadli filed for paternity in the Third District Court, December 1st, 1999. R 1.
- 15. Al-Bahadli also registered with Bureau of Vital Statistics. R 51, ¶8.
- 16. On December 1st, 1999, Al-Bahadli moved to join Defendant LDS Family Services as a party, and for an order of temporary custody. R 9.
- 17. On January 7th, 2000, Defendant LDS Family Services moved for summary judgment alleging that Al-Bahadli had not complied with UCA 78-30-4.13 in a timely manner. R 26.
- 18. On May 16th, 2000, Judge William B. Bohling entered his order granting Defendant's motion

for Summary Judgment. Al-Bahadli now appeals. R 112.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Defendant LeCheminant admits that she misled Al-Bahadli about her intentions to give up their child for adoption. Baby Doe holds that such a misrepresentation effectively denies a father a "reasonable opportunity" to comply with the statutory requirements for protecting his rights (UCA §78-30-4.13), and that, in such a case, the statutory scheme (including UCA 78-30-4.14(5)) is unconstitutional as applied. The Trial Court ignored the Utah Supreme Court's holding in Baby Doe and dismissed Al-Bahadli's complaint for failure to comply with UCA §78-30-4.13. The Trial Court's Order should be reversed and the case set for trial.

In addition, UCA §78-30-4.15 directly contradicts the principles enunciated in <u>Baby Doe</u> and should be stricken as unconstitutional on its face.

ARGUMENT

I. AL-BAHADLI DID NOT HAVE A REASONABLE OPPORTUNITY TO COMPLY WITH THE STATUTE, AND TO THEREBY PROTECT HIS RIGHTS, AND THEREFORE THE STATUTE IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL AS APPLIED IN HIS CASE.

Standard of Review

Questions of law and constitutionality are reviewed for correctness. Erickson v. Schenkers Int'l Forwarders, Inc., 882 P.2d 1147 (Utah 1994); Society of Separationists, Inc. v. Whitehead, 870 P.2d 916 (Utah 1993).

According to the Utah Supreme Court, although a statute may be constitutional on its face, it may also be unconstitutional as applied in a particular case. Ellis v. Social Services

Department of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter Day Saints, 615 P.2d 1250 (Utah 1980); In Re Adoption of Baby Doe, 717 P.2d 690 (Utah 1986). Furthermore, when a biological father,

through the misrepresentations of the natural mother, is denied a "reasonable opportunity" to comply with the statutory requirements for protecting his rights, the statute is unconstitutional as applied. In Re Adoption of Baby Doe, at 690, 691.1 The father in this case now before the Court, was misled by the birth mother and was thus denied an opportunity to comply with the statute.

In <u>Baby Doe</u>, the parents resided in California. The natural mother told the father that she would move to Arizona with him and the plan was to move prior to the birth of the baby. Instead, the mother moved to Utah and placed the child for adoption. After learning of the pending adoption, the father filed a motion to set aside the order terminating his rights. The trial court denied his motion, and the father appealed.

On appeal, the Utah Supreme Court held that "[b]y making those representations, the child's mother alleviated any concern appellant might otherwise have had as to his need to protect his parental rights because he had no reason to believe an adoption would be attempted." Id. at 690. Additionally, the Court found that all parties were "distinctly aware of appellant's intent and desire to rear the child, and the record indicates that the mother's family deliberately withheld information in order to avoid potential 'problems' with appellant, who they knew would obstruct the adoption." Id. The Utah Supreme Court held that, because the mother had misrepresented her intentions, the father did not have a reasonable opportunity to protect his rights, and the trial court's decision was reversed

In the case now before this Court, after the Al-Bahadi and LeCheminant learned

¹ This principle was reaffirmed in <u>Swayne v. L.D.S Social Services</u>, 795 P.2d 637, 642 (Utah 1990), wherein the Utah Supreme Court held that if the father was unaware of the need to protect his parental rights, and if he had been misled concerning the need to protect those rights, then the statute is unconstitutional as applied to that father.

LeCheminant was pregnant, they agreed to marry, all the while she was attending classes and planning to place the child for adoption. LeCheminant, her family, and her Social Worker, Carolyn Chudley, conspired to withhold the truth from Al-Bahadli about LeCheminant's intention to place the child for adoption. When confronted by Al-Bahadli as to the nature of the adoption classes she was attending, LeCheminant misled Al-Bahadli as to their purpose, and dissuaded him from attending. She never discussed adoption with Al-Bahadli. She also knew that he was from Iraq, and that his cultural background would cause him to oppose the idea.

After the child's pre-mature birth, and while the child was in the hospital due to complications, Al-Bahadli visited the child every day, and visited with LeCheminant and her parents at the hospital. During this time, Lecheminant never informed Al-Bahadli of her intentions to give away their son. They continued to discuss their plans to marry and to raise Adam, and she thus "alleviated" any concerns he might have had about protecting his rights. Because of LeCheminant's actions, and misrepresentations, Al-Bahadli believed they would marry and raise their son. Moreover, LeCheminant's family was distinctly aware of Al-Bahadli's intent and desire to raise his son, and the record indicates that the LeCheminant's family deliberately withheld information from Al-Bahadli regarding the pending adoption. Al-Bahadli, therefore, never had a reasonable opportunity to comply with UCA §78-30-4.13 and protect his rights. The statutory scheme, therefore, is unconstitutional as applied to Al-Bahadli. These are material facts supporting genuine issues. Defendant LDS Family Services was not entitled to judgment as a matter of law. The Trial Court's Order dismissing Al-Bahadli's complaint should be reversed, and the case should be set for trial.

II. UCA §78-30-4.15 IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL ON ITS FACE IN THAT IT PERMITS FATHERS TO BE DENIED A REASONABLE OPPORTUNTITY

TO COMPLY WITH UCA §78-30-4.13 BY ALLOWING THE MOTHER TO COMMIT FRAUD.

Questions of law and constitutionality are reviewed for correctness. <u>Erickson v.</u>

<u>Schenkers Int'l Forwarders, Inc.</u>, 882 P.2d 1147 (Utah 1994); <u>Society of Separationists, Inc. v.</u>

Whitehead, 870 P.2d 916 (Utah 1993).

UCA §78-30-4.15 is in direct violation of the principles enunciated in <u>Baby Doe</u>. The statute states:

Any person injured by fraudulent representations or actions in connection with an adoption is entitled to pursue civil or criminal penalties in accordance with existing law. A fraudulent representation is not a defense to strict compliance with the requirements of this chapter, and is not a basis for dismissal of a petition for adoption, vacation of an adoption decree, or an automatic grant of custody to the offended party.

UCA §78-30-4.15(2). The above statute directly contradicts the Supreme Court's guarantee of a "reasonable opportunity" to comply with the provisions of §78-30-4.13, and is, therefore, unconstitutional on its face. The statute should be stricken.

CONCLUSION

There exist genuine issues of material fact, which are in dispute. LeCheminant's admission that misrepresented her intentions to Al-Bahadli should have been enough to defeat Defendant LDS Family Services' Motion for Summary Judgment. It is clear from the affidavits and pleadings filed in this action that there are genuine issues of material fact, and Al-Bahadli deserves to be heard.