2000

Mahaoud Al-Bahadli v. LDS Family Services, Jill Lecheminant : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Utah law requires an unwed father to comply with certain statutory procedures in order to establish his rights and oppose the adoption. Plaintiff concedes that he failed to comply with those required procedures; therefore, he has no statutory right to contest the child’s adoption.

The due process exception applies only when the father demonstrates, first, that it was “impossible” to comply with the statutes because of ignorance of when and where the child was born; and, second, that he had no “reasonable opportunity” to protect his interests because of misrepresentations by the mother. The reasonable opportunity analysis does not apply unless impossibility is shown first.

It was not “impossible” for plaintiff to comply with Utah law because he and the mother are Utah residents, were at all times present in Utah, and plaintiff knew that the child would be, or had been, born in Utah. Absent impossibility, no inquiry into reasonable opportunity is required. However, even if applied, plaintiff had a “reasonable opportunity” to protect his rights because he was not misled by the mother. The mother had no legal obligation to inform plaintiff of her adoption plans. Moreover, her statements that she was attending parenting classes and would marry plaintiff were true and did not preclude a possible adoption. The mother never told plaintiff that she would not place the child for adoption, or that she and the child would live with him. In any event, plaintiff is presumed to know of the possibility of adoption, and the Agency gave plaintiff actual notice that the mother was considering adoption. Therefore, plaintiff should have been aware of the need to protect his rights.

Plaintiff has no standing to challenge the constitutionality of the statutory fraud provision because that provision was not applied in this case.

ARGUMENT

POINT I: THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY RULED THAT PLAINTIFF HAS NO RIGHT TO CONTEST THE ADOPTION BECAUSE HE FAILED TO COMPLY WITH STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS AND DOES NOT MEET THE DUE PROCESS EXCEPTION TO THOSE REQUIREMENTS.

B. Statutory Compliance.

The rights and responsibilities of the various parties involved in the adoption of an out-of-wedlock child are set forth in U.C.A. § 78-30-4.12(2). “[T]he state has a

compelling interest in providing stable and permanent homes for adoptive children in a prompt manner, in preventing the disruption of adoptive placements, and in holding parents accountable for meeting the needs of children.” Subsection (a). The “unmarried mother, faced with the responsibility of making crucial decisions about the future of a newborn child, is entitled to privacy, and has the right to make timely and appropriate decisions regarding her future and the future of the child, and is entitled to assurance regarding the permanence of an adoptive placement.” Subsection (b). The child has “a right to permanence and stability in adoptive placements.” Subsection (c). The “adoptive parents have a constitutionally protected liberty and privacy interest in retaining custody of an adopted child.” Subsection (d). However, the unmarried father has only “an inchoate interest that acquires constitutional protection only when he demonstrates a timely and full commitment to the responsibilities of parenthood, both during pregnancy and upon the child’s birth.” Subsection (e). Accordingly, the “state has a compelling interest in requiring unmarried biological fathers to demonstrate that commitment . . . by establishing legal paternity, in accordance with the requirements of this chapter.” *Id.*

Section 78-30-4.12(3)(a) states that statutory standards are applied to determine whether the unwed father’s action “is sufficiently prompt and substantial to require constitutional protection.” If the father fails timely to grasp his opportunity for legal rights through strict compliance with statutory procedures, “his biological parental interest may be lost entirely.” Subsection (b). “A certain degree of finality is necessary in order to facilitate the state’s compelling interest” in providing prompt and permanent

placements for adoptive children. Therefore, “the interests of the state, the mother, the child, and the adoptive parents . . . outweigh the interest of an unmarried biological father who does not timely grasp the opportunity to establish” his parental rights in accordance with statutory requirements. Subsection (c). The unmarried father “has the primary responsibility to protect his rights,” and he “is presumed to know that the child may be adopted without his consent unless he strictly complies with” statutory requirements to establish his paternal rights. Subsections (d) and (e).

Section 78-30-4.14(2) sets forth the statutory requirements for an unwed father to assert his parental rights. An unwed father of a newborn child may contest the child’s adoption “only if the father has strictly complied with the requirements of” subsection (b). Subsection (b) requires the father to “have manifested a full commitment to his parental responsibilities by performing all of the acts described in this subsection *prior to the time the mother executes her consent for adoption.*” (Emp. added.) The father must: (i) initiate a paternity action, setting forth his ability, desire, and plan to care for and financially support the child; (ii) file notice of that paternity action with the Department of Health; and (iii) have paid “a fair and reasonable amount of the expenses incurred in connection with the mother’s pregnancy and the child’s birth.”

Most importantly, section 78-30-4.14(5) states that an unwed father who fails timely to comply with these statutory requirements is deemed to have waived his paternal rights, including any right to contest the adoption:

An unmarried biological father who does not fully and strictly comply with each of the conditions provided in this section, is deemed to have waived and surrendered any right in relation to the child, including the right to notice of any judicial proceeding in connection with the adoption of the child, and his consent to the adoption of the child is not required.

Accordingly, an unwed father who fails to file notice of commencement of a paternity action “prior to the time the mother executes her consent for adoption” forfeits his parental rights and is barred from contesting the adoption.

Plaintiff conceded in the district court, and does not dispute on appeal, that he failed to comply with the foregoing statutory requirements. (Tr. 24, 32.) His paternity action was not filed until three weeks after Jill’s relinquishment. His complaint fails to demonstrate his ability and plan to care for and financially support the child; rather, he seeks financial support from Jill. The record contains no proof that he filed notice of his paternity action with the Department of Health. Moreover, plaintiff paid none of the expenses of Jill’s pregnancy or of the child’s birth. Therefore, plaintiff “is deemed to have waived and surrendered any right in relation to the child, . . . and his consent to the adoption of the child is not required.” 78-30-4.14(5). *See, e.g., In re Adoption of B.B.D.*, 1999 UT 70, ¶¶ 17, 26, 984 P.2d 967 (unwed father “failed to comply with any of the foregoing requirements of the law; and he has therefore forfeited any parental rights to the child”); *Swayne v. L.D.S. Social Services*, 795 P.2d 637, 640 (Utah 1990) (rights of noncomplying unwed father are “automatically terminated” with the mother’s relinquishment); *Sanchez v. L.D.S. Social Services*, 680 P.2d 753, 756 (Utah 1984) (it is “not too harsh” to require an unwed father either to comply with the statutes or “to yield”

to the adoption); *Beltran v. Allan*, 926 P.2d 892, 898 (Utah App. 1996) (ignorance of the law is no excuse from strict statutory compliance).

C. Due Process Exception.

Plaintiff argues that the foregoing statutes are unconstitutional as applied to him because he had no reasonable opportunity to comply. (Br. of App. 7.) Plaintiff relies exclusively on *Ellis v. Social Services Dept.*, 615 P.2d 1250 (Utah 1980), and *In re Adoption of Baby Boy Doe*, 717 P.2d 686 (Utah 1986), attempting to conform the facts here to the facts of those cases. However, those cases are factually very different from the present case, and plaintiff has misapplied the “reasonable opportunity” standard.

I. Impossibility and Reasonable Opportunity.

In *Ellis, supra*, the unwed parents resided in California and were engaged to be married. Several days before the birth, the mother came to Utah without notifying the father, gave birth, represented that the father was unknown, and relinquished the child for adoption. 615 P.2d at 1252-53. Some days later, after discovering what had happened, the father filed the required notice of paternity and law suit, claiming violation of due process for lack of notice. The court noted that “[i]n the usual case, the putative father would either know or reasonably should know approximately *when and where* his child was born.” *Id.* at 1256 (emp. added). However, if the father could show that it was “impossible” to comply with the statute, “through no fault of his own,” based on lack of notice of “*when and where*” his child was born, he should “be permitted to show that he was not afforded a reasonable opportunity to comply with the statute.” *Id.* (emp. added).

The case was remanded to give the father an opportunity “to show as a factual matter that he could not reasonably have expected his baby to be born in Utah.” *Id.*

The Utah Supreme Court clarified this “reasonable opportunity” standard in *Wells v. Children’s Aid Society*, 681 P.2d 199 (Utah 1984). As the *Wells* court emphasized, “Due process does not require that the father of an illegitimate child be identified and personally notified before his parental right can be terminated.” *Id.* at 207. “[S]uch a requirement would frustrate the compelling state interest in the speedy determination” of parental responsibility for the child, as well as “threaten the privacy interests of unwed mothers.” *Id.* The “reasonable opportunity” standard applies only “when it is first shown that it was ‘impossible’ for the father to file ‘through no fault of his own.’” *Id.* at 208. “Otherwise, the need to prove in each adoption case that the unwed father . . . had a ‘reasonable opportunity’ to file the required notice of paternity would frustrate the statute’s purpose to facilitate secure adoptions by early clarification of status.” *Id.* Statutory compliance is *not* “impossible” as long as the father knows the child is to be born in Utah. *Id.* at 207. *See also In re Adoption of B.B.D.*, 1999 UT 70, ¶ 17, 984 P.2d 967 (father was required to comply with the Utah statute because he knew the baby was in Utah); *Beltran v. Allan*, 926 P.2d 892, 896 (Utah App. 1996) (father was subject to Utah statutory requirements because he knew the child was in Utah).

The *Ellis* “reasonable opportunity” standard does not apply in the present case because plaintiff has failed to make the threshold showing that it was “impossible” for him to comply with the statute “through no fault of his own.” Plaintiff and Jill are Utah

residents, and plaintiff knew throughout the pregnancy that the baby would be born in Utah. In fact, he knew for three months following the birth that the baby *had been* born in Utah. Accordingly, unlike the California father in *Ellis*, who had no idea the mother was in Utah, plaintiff always knew that Jill was here and, consequently, that Utah law would apply. Because plaintiff could reasonably expect the child to be born in Utah, it was not “impossible” for him to comply with Utah law. Absent a prior showing of impossibility, the “reasonable opportunity” standard does not even come into play. *Ellis*, *supra*, at 1256; *Wells*, *supra*, at 208; *see also Swayne v. L.D.S. Social Services*, 795 P.2d 637, 642 (Utah 1990) (“the reasonable opportunity standard adopted in *Ellis* [i]s applicable [only] when ‘it was ‘impossible’ for the father to file ‘through no fault of his own’”).

The case of *Baby Boy Doe*, cited by plaintiff, is also easily distinguishable. There, the unwed parents were, again, California residents, and the mother came to Utah during the pregnancy. A few weeks prior to the birth, the mother told the father that she would move to Arizona *prior to the birth and that she and the baby would live there with him*. In reliance on the mother’s statement, the father went to Arizona to prepare living arrangements. Meanwhile, the baby was born early in Utah, without the father’s knowledge, and two days later the mother relinquished the child for adoption in Utah. The father learned of the birth and relinquishment the following day, and he filed the required claim of paternity one day later. 717 P.2d at 687-88, 690. In a 3-2 decision, the court held that the statute, as applied, violated due process. Under the first prong of

analysis, compliance with Utah law was deemed “impossible” because the father reasonably expected the child to be born in Arizona; he did not know of the birth in Utah; and he was absent from Utah before and during the birth. Under the second prong, the father had no “reasonable opportunity” to comply with Utah adoption statutes because of the mother’s representations to the father that she *and the child* would live with him in Arizona. *Id.* at 690-91. While the mother was not required to give the father actual notice of the planned adoption, neither could she misrepresent that there would be no adoption. *Id.* at 690.

In sharp contrast to those facts, as noted above, plaintiff and Jill are Utah residents; they never left Utah; and plaintiff knew of the birth in Utah. Accordingly, under the first prong of analysis, plaintiff never had any reason to expect that another state’s law would apply, and compliance with Utah law was not “impossible.” That ends the analysis, but even if the second prong were applicable, plaintiff has not shown that he was denied a “reasonable opportunity” to comply with the adoption statutes. Unlike the father in *Baby Boy Doe*, plaintiff was not misled to believe there would be no adoption. Contrary to plaintiff’s unsupported assertions, *the record contains no evidence of any such statement*. See *Adoption of B.B.D., supra*, at ¶¶ 31-32 (unwed father “misstates the record” and makes assertions not found in the record).

Jill’s statement that she was attending parenting classes at the Agency was *true*. Apparently, plaintiff never asked, and Jill never stated, whether she was also receiving private adoption counseling. Jill and plaintiff never discussed adoption at all, either way,

to say that it would or would not happen. Jill, herself, was undecided on adoption until the morning she took the child from the hospital. Under her right of privacy, Jill had no obligation to inform plaintiff that she was considering adoption. *Adoption of B.B.D.*, *supra*, at ¶ 15; *Wells*, *supra*, at 207; *Baby Boy Doe*, *supra*, at 691 (“actual notice is not required prior to termination of parental rights”). Most importantly, the record is undisputed that Jill never told plaintiff she would not place the child for adoption. (LeCheminant Aff’t, ¶ 7.)

Moreover, Jill’s statement that she intended to marry plaintiff was also *true*, as it included no express reference to the child and, therefore, did not preclude also placing the child for adoption. Marriage and adoption are separate, and not necessarily related, decisions. Jill wanted to continue her relationship with plaintiff without the responsibilities of motherhood. Jill never told plaintiff that she *and the child* would live with him after taking the child from the hospital. Plaintiff may have “assumed” that mother and child would live with him, as did the father in *Sanchez*, *supra*, 680 P.2d at 755; however, as held in *Sanchez*, that assumption does not protect the father’s rights. By merely assuming there will be no adoption, an unwed father also assumes the risk that there could be.

2. Constructive and Actual Notice.

Not only was plaintiff *not misled* concerning adoption, he was on legal and actual notice of possible adoption. As the Supreme Court stated in *Adoption of B.B.D.*, *supra*, after discussing the mother’s right of privacy concerning adoption:

An unmarried father, on the other hand, “by virtue of the fact that he has engaged in a sexual relationship with a woman, is deemed to be on notice that a pregnancy *and an adoption proceeding* regarding that child may occur.” Because he is deemed to be on notice, it becomes his responsibility to protect his own rights of notice and consent according to the requirements of section 78-30-4.13 to -4.15. [1999 UT 70, ¶ 15, emp. added, citation omitted.]

In addition, even though not legally required, *see Beltran, supra*, at 898, the Agency provided actual notice of possible adoption to plaintiff when Carolyn Chudley phoned him, over two months after the birth and more than three weeks prior to the relinquishment, stating that Jill was considering placing the child for adoption. Plaintiff quibbles over the words used, but the meaning was clear, and if the meaning was not clear, he should have inquired of Carolyn or discussed the matter with Jill. Because plaintiff had notice, both constructive and actual, of possible adoption, he “cannot argue that he was deceived or lulled into believing he did not need to take proper steps to protect his rights.” *Beltran, supra*, at 897. *See also Adoption of B.B.D., supra*, ¶ 17 (father who knows of possibility of adoption cannot claim violation of due process); *Swayne, supra*, at 643 (father who knows of possible adoption “should have been aware of the need to protect his parental rights”).³

In summary, this case illustrates the conflicting rights and interests of unwed parents. The mother has the right to place the child for adoption consistent with her

³ As indicated previously, plaintiff’s complaint contains no allegation of, or reference to, fraud or misrepresentation of any kind. Therefore, such claims cannot be raised in a belated effort to avoid summary judgment. *See, e.g., Norton v. Blackham*, 669 P.2d 857, 858 (Utah 1983) (plaintiff who failed to plead fraud in the complaint cannot assert it for the first time in opposing summary judgment); *DeBry v. Noble*, 889 P.2d 428, 443 (Utah 1995) (upholding summary judgment on fraud claim for failure to plead it with particularity, as required by Utah R. Civ. P. 9(b)).

judgment of what is best for herself and the child. She has no obligation to involve the father in her decision. The mother, Agency, and adoptive parents must be able to rely on a definite procedure and measure of the father's rights in order to prevent the trauma of later disruption of the adoption. *See Wells, supra*, at 206-07 ("such determinations must also be final and irrevocable"); *Beltran, supra*, at 898 ("Utah law requires strict compliance to provide certainty and finality to adoptions"). Meanwhile, the father has the duty to protect his own rights. He can perfect his paternal rights and effectively veto the mother's adoption decision by simply complying with the statutory requirements. By failing to follow those requirements, the father assumes the risk of losing his parental rights. Moreover, informal expressions of interest in the child, gifts for the child, visits to the hospital, or statements of opposition to adoption are no substitute for strict compliance with the statutes. *E.g., Adoption of B.B.D., supra*, at ¶ 20; *Swayne, supra*, at 641; *Sanchez, supra*, at 755-56; *Beltran, supra*, at 896. Neither does plaintiff come within the due process exception established by *Ellis* and *Baby Boy Doe* because he knew of the birth here in Utah, and he was not misled concerning the possibility of adoption, having received actual notice of that possibility. Therefore, the district court correctly held that plaintiff has no rights in relation to the child.⁴

⁴ In passing, plaintiff asserts that material issues of fact preclude summary judgment. (Br. of App. 9.) However, the record discloses no such material issues. There is no dispute that Jill and plaintiff never discussed adoption, but did discuss marriage, as explained above. Plaintiff "misstates the record," as did the father in *B.B.D., supra*, at ¶ 32, by claiming that he and Jill also discussed "rais[ing] their son." No such statement appears in the record. Other claimed factual issues are not material to the legal analysis. In any event, plaintiff failed to identify any material issues of fact in opposing the motion for summary judgment in the district court. Therefore, "[a]ll material facts set forth in the movant's statement . . . shall be deemed admitted for the purpose of summary judgment." Rule 4-501(2)(B), Code of Jud. Admin. The district court so held. (Order, ¶ 1, Add. 2.)

POINT II: THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY RULED THAT PLAINTIFF LACKS STANDING TO CHALLENGE THE FACIAL CONSTITUTIONALITY OF SECTION 78-30-4.15(2).

Plaintiff argues, without analysis or discussion of case law, that section 78-30-4.15(2) is unconstitutional on its face because it “contradicts” the “reasonable opportunity” standard discussed above. (Br. of App. 10.) However, as the district court concluded, plaintiff lacks standing to raise the issue. (Order, ¶ 9, Add. 3.)⁵

Section 78-30-4.15(2) provides that “[a] fraudulent representation is not a defense to strict compliance with the requirements of this chapter.” This provision merely emphasizes that unwed parents are expected to protect their own rights, rather than relying on assumptions or actions and statements of the other parent. *See* Subsection -4.15(1). However, this provision was never invoked or applied in this case because there was no fraud. As the district court held, plaintiff neither alleged nor proved any act of fraud by Jill. (Order, ¶ 2, Add. 2.) Therefore, the issue whether fraud is a defense to strict compliance with the statute never came up. Because this statute was not invoked to defeat plaintiff’s claims, he was not “injured” by it, and accordingly has no standing to challenge its validity. *See, e.g., Jenkins v. Swan*, 675 P.2d 1145, 1150 (Utah 1983) (“One who is not adversely affected has no standing.”); *York v. Unqualified Washington County Elected Officials*, 714 P.2d 679, 680 (Utah 1986) (action dismissed for lack of standing).

⁵ In addition, because the argument is presented without legal analysis or authority, this Court should decline to address it. *See, e.g., Burns v. Summerhays*, 927 P.2d 197, 199 (Utah App. 1996); *State v. Yates*, 834 P.2d 599, 602 (Utah App. 1992).